


EDWARD S . BOYLE 

EUGENE MA,CK,.i. 

PATRICK DOYLE., 

WILLIAM ROBINSON:, 

MARY ROBINSON', . 

ZANIES DALTOiT, (Re C a d 

EDWARD S BOYLE ( Re o alle d.) 



•COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS OF THE. pBACEi, 

City and County_ of New York Part II. 

THE PEOPLE OF THE ST.ATE OF NEW YORK Before: 

-against-. HON.OTTO A.ROSALSKY't 

glaLIAM ROBINSON, EUGENE MACK and. sand a jury. 
STEPHEN mumnfr. 

New York, July 3rd 1912.c 

Indicted for a-ttempted robbery in the first -degree. 

Indictment filed, Xune 10th, 1912. 

.A: p: p e a r 'n. 6:' e 

Fpr People: ROBERT C. Mc C.ORtilICK, ESQ.., Assistant 
District Attorney. 

F r Defendant: CHARLES SULLIVAN Esq. 

(A jury .s duly empanelled and sworn. 

(The Court now duly admonishes the jurY and deolaree 

an adjournment to 'Monday, All 8th 1912.) 
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y consent 

• excused owing to illness , a new juror taking 

- the box.) 

• (Mr. Sullivan asks .for the exclusion of 

from the court room.) 

(AlI witnesses excluded.) 

0 H N 'IC A HE; called as a witness in behalf of the People, 

being first duly sworn, testifies as follows: 

(The witness states that he lives at the corner of Broome and. 

• Hudson. streets.) 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. McCORMICX: 

Q, What is your business? A 'A longshoreman, sir, when I am 

at it, but I ain't' been at it now for nearly a year getting 

too old. 

Q, Do you remember seeing these three men on the night of 

Tuue 3rd? 

R. SULLIV.AN: Objected to that isa dagero 

question... 



Q Which way were you walking A • I waS -walking toward.s 

Q, .Andyou were•between what streets. A Between HudsOn 

and Greenwich streets 

Q And you were walking on which side of the street? 

A Well, I couldn't exactly say which side I was 

Q. Were you on the uptown side or the downtown side? 

I think I was on the uptown side. That was my way home to 

Broome street anyhow, every night. 

Q, Did anything happen to you? A One party caught hold, 

f me, and put his arm around me like_ that (indicating). , 

Q, Do you know who that was? A Well, I couldn't eiactly 

say. It was night time. I couldn't say. And. they got me 

Q, What di-d the first man who touched you'd 

I couldn't exactly tell you which of them it was. 

of me by the throat. 



yoU -sober? 4 Sire via's stiber? might _h4ve a 

-drink or two in me, but. nothing out 

Q; "What happened then? A Welli that 

They got hold of me-, I sung out, and the officer come along 

and. I .id they got hold of Me • and tried to throw me .• down, 

suppose., or tried. to get. away—from me. 

Tn1 'COURT: Strike out the answer. Let him state 

which one made the statement. 

Q, Do you know wito—the man was who grabbed you. by the 

Q, Do you know who those three men were? A I could nt5 

RI Would you know ;them now, if you saw them? 

have an idea. I Men one of them. 

Q, Is he in this court room? A I couldn't exactly tell you. 

Q, We'll, look around, A Thera is one of them there, ally—



could not, because it was night time .ani &t xras.darkeb I could. 

not, your Honor., 

BY NI McCORMICK: 

Q, Well what happened. then, after three Men tried to 

go t3arOUgh your pockets did you have iy money o'; 

did:, seventy-five cents. 

Q, ' Where' was it? A I had it 111 that pocket, and. they 

didn't get at that (indicating a pocket in shirt). 

Q, Show us where you had the money? A Right there in 

that shirt pocket. 

Q, What, pockets did they put their hands in? A In my 

• 'pants pockets, back and front and Leve rywhere 
„N..41,0iiservffls000r, 

move to strike that out. 

How long had these men been -going through your pockets 

'before the Officers were there? A I couldn't -tell you that. 

Q Well, a very short time, was it? 

QuestionObjected to.  vd.thdraWn 

Q Did they get your money? A They did. not. That' a L1 

e money I had seVenty-five cents. 



Where _were 'you going? A I was on ray way. home to Broome 

Where had, you been. A I, was working in a liquor store. 

Q, Working? 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY liEt. SULLIVAN: 

What is your position in the liquor 

up there. 

was after the saloon had closed? 

.yes. 

Q, And your duty in the saloon is to Olean it _up after it 

closes? A Well yes. 

9, You do not clean it up while .it is going, on doing 

business? A• Not that time, nothing going den there since' eleven 

0' clock. 

Q, This was saturday night, wasn't it? A Yes, 

Q, What time did the saloon close? A Twelve o 

Q Did you leave there at that time?. A I did, 

Q, Where is the saloon? A Weehawkin and 10th. street. 

Q, 1Neeb.awkin street and Tenth? A Yea, sir. 

Q How long had you been there as •a cleaner up? 

was there a couple of months,  I guess. 

Q, Where did you board? A In the restanran :0 1.1ree. 

Is there a restaurant attached to the saloon? 4 _ Oh, ite; 

bciardedin West street and I roomedin Broome street. 

Q, You ad not board •where you roomed? A No, no, cartel** 



Q, And. wbere'did you- ake your mead? A In the re Stauran 

7 Attached to .the saloon A In,_.We_st  street. 

Q In a„.restaurant in West- street? A Exactly. 

Q, But not at  to the saloon? A 351o. 

Q, How much did you get a d.ay.f r cleaning up that 

A 60 -cents. 

IQ, And. out of that you paid. your lodging and. your meals? 

A.. Yes.. 

It is nearly a year. 

9, Isn't it over a year? 

A I worked. on the Cunard. 

Well, you have done odd jobs before? A 

Q, Before a year ago? A Yes. 

Q, But the last five or ten years you have got. to be 

pretty old.? A Oh, I was not alongshore for the le.st twelve 

Q You have not worked steadily alongshore fox' t1 

ears, have you? A Not in a year., 

Q Well, you have not done anytiiing at all in that. 

Q, But I mean in the, last ten years you have not done 



anything alongshore? 

MoCORMICK I object to *Cat h 

years ago. 

THE COURT: Objection overruled. 

I Worked dolin in Pier 47 for nearly fifteen years 

now. I worked in the Cunard since. 

How long have you lived in that neighborhood? A I have 

been living in that neighborhood over eighteen years. 

Q, You haven't any family? A No; I buried my wife about 

six years ago. 

• Q, You haven't any children, have you? A No. 

How long have you known the defendant Robinson? A Only 

by eyesight, not very long: I couldet call the man by name, 

neither one nor the other. 

Q, You don't know the other two at all? A No: 

Q, But you do know Robinson? A Well, by eyesigh:t that's 

Q, How long is it since. you have known him? ,A 

little over a year, I guess. 

Q, Is that - right? A :Yes, off a mly seen hm passing 



couldn't call the maT,Lby name. 

Do, you imow that neighborhood, of West .10th street prett 

well, living -there for. the last eighteen know 

it quite a while, yes. 

Q, Can you locate to this Jury vd, th some degree of Cer-

tainty the point that you were stopped on that street that 

night? A Well, between Hudson and Greenwich, I guess 

where around there. 

Q, Somewhere between Hudson and Greenwich streets, is 

that right? A I think so. 

Q, Was it on the north or south side, of the street? A. 

Well, I couldn't exactly tell you that, even. I might be on-

the s cuth side or on the north side. 

Q. As a matter of fact you do know one thing 

that is that at the point where you were it was dark? A 

was dark? Well, it was night time. 

cz, Well, there was no light around there. A so.; there 

*and lamp 

is that it? A 'res. 



4•Viv 

0 

When you testified in the, police court in ,this case 

were you at that time held on a charge of intoxiCation? A No. 

Q, DO YOU 'remember now whether or not you were arrested at 

night and help. an a. charge of intoxication made against you? 

Na, do not.  -

Q, Yet", do not have any recollection about that? A No. 

know where I was.. t we-B-1n the Charles street station all 

night long. 

• Q, What time did. you land at .the Charles street station 
- 

house? A It must be Sunday morning; . it  was after twelv,e 

o'clock saturday night. 

ct You don't remember how you got to the Station? A No, 

do not. I was brought there, I zalked there. 

Q,. Were you brought there or did yo.i walk there? A 

walked there. 

Q, Vtraare did you go from? A From where I was arreEsted, 

10tb._ street. 

'GI Mat were you arrested for? A Those two- parties, 

. two detectives arrested me and, arrested them here (indicating 

defendants). They ketched them on the street 

Q So you were all taken to the station house.together., 

is that right? A yes, as near ETFII.can get. 

Q,. :iWell, I know, but s6 far as your reóolleetioü goes 
• . _ ••••,,•11.• 

you have no -ni‘mory 'about. t? A No 

Q, t that so? .A It is iite a while now, isn't it?   

LTJ ITT) 
E:77:77-1 



%ordotten about: 

Isn't it true that the first you knew about this case 

was on Sunday morning when you woke up in the station house 

in Charles street that is the first you knew about -this 

matte-r? A Of course I knew: it as Sunday morning. 

Q, Well that is the first time you"knew or heard aboUt 

it -.when you woke  up in the Charles street police station 

Sunday morning, you heard about this robbery? A That is the 

:them by eyesight and that's all. 

Qs That did. you say Robinson did. to you? A I couldn't 

tell you what he done -- there w3re three of then there. 

IQ, 11%11 now, you claim now to this jury that sane man 

'took you by the throat? A Exactly, and then I couldn't tIl 

Q, Couldn't you see the face of the man who 

C?. Well, when did you first see Robinson after you came 

he light? A Well, they tackled me where X was tellitg 



ts. 

understand but ,at that time 

that u could not see anybody? A 

Q Is that right? A That's right. 

Now, as to the man whom you claim took hold of your 

throat, you don't ,know who that was? A I couldn't tell 

Q And if anybody went through your pockets, you don 

know who they were? A Well they went through my pockets all 

right. 

it was so dark there 

McCORMICK, I object to•that as a h 

question. 

THE COURT. Objection sustained. 

q Now, I am reading from pagep3 of' th:e minutes of the 

MR, SULLIVAN. Well, I will.aSk the 00stiO4. 

Q Was this question asked you in the Magistrate 

"They put their hands in the pookets of your clOtheS, didn't 

they? A Yes, I suppose sp."? A I suppose  

Q Did you make that answer? A Yes, I made, an answer ,yeso 

Well-, you say. "I suppose so"? A' 'We.U,.ys, .1 told you 

that before, that they went through my pockets and they got 

nothing. 

Q At that  time you said "I suppose 0"9 A Yes. 

q Didn't you? A Yes 



••••••••• r...• • • • ••• ..••••••••• • •••,....„ ,• 

ct the .other two hold you while he was doing- it? 

suppose so,' Did you make that answer? A tes„ 

up did you see the 

q• Well, didn't you suppose Did. you.s.ee. the three 

men arrested? A No. 

Q, /here- did you first see the three men after this? 

A Jefferson Market, 

(1 As a matter of fact you have no recollection 

those three men that night after the thing occurred at all9 

A That was Sunday morning wasn't it'? 
S. 

Q Well, T 'know, Sunday morning when you went' to Court 

you saw three men there, didn't you? A Yes. 

Welll  but that night you did not see Mack and-Murpiy 

until you saw them in Jefferson Market Court? A I don't know 

their names at all from other men. 

Q But the first you saw of them was at the jefferson Matkd 

'court*, isn't that right? A I-sat them the night they were 

going in my pockets, didn't I? I didn't know who they:were, 

_though,' 

Q,

 

You didn't know who, those men were did you? A No. 

(I Well, you were a witneds before the Magistrate in this 

case? Do you' remember the 'Magistrate asking you this ques-

f 

C;;211= 



sober at the was sober answer. 70U. 

Q You remember the Magistra 

"You know there is a complaint of intoxication against 

here, don't you. A Yes." Didn't you say that? A I am hard 

of hearing, I didnit'hear that. 

Q You know that there is a complaint of intoxication 

against you here, don't you? A Yes." A Perhaps I did.. 

couldn't say that, you know --- I might have said it. 

• Q., As a matter of fact, do you know haw you landed in the 

Charles street police station have you any recollection 

of it? A. Well, I douldn't exactly say. I suppoSe'I walk 

MR. McCORNICK. No, he didn't say that. 

Well, you woke up there SundaY morning, isn 

Q, Did you go fram there to the jeffe 



the Charles street police station 

A Two officers took me around there? 

Did you tell the -Magistrate in the 

police court when you testified before him that anybody took 

you by the throat? A Yes. 

Did you tell the Magistrate that anybody else took 

hold of you besides the man that took you by the throat. 

said to the Magistrate? .1 was sal 

saying anything of the- kind You-.misUnder-

stand me •, If you d5-not know what you  said before the Magis-

trate,

- - - 

remember what you said about the Man holding. 

you by the throat9 A I knew that when  it happened.. 

-Q But I am asking you?. A I must be very drunk if I 

could- remember all about that.. If I-r-eme.mbered that a man 

held me by the thruat and the others going through my pocket.--, 

Q Did the hearing go on when you went in the Magistrate's 

Court: on Sunday morning? Did you go on the stand, and testify? 

A Yes. 

of yoUr condition? 



DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR 

JAMES DALTO Nt. called asawitness inbhalf of the 

People, being first duly sworn, testified as follows: 

(The witness states that be resides at 104 West 13th street. 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. McCORMICK: 

Q, You are a member of the police force of Near York City? 

Q, On the 2nd of June were you attached to the Detective 

Q Now, that night -were you in the vicinity of West .10th' 

street andl Hudson? A I was. 

What time of night was it thatyou re there? A.: Abou 

twelve fifteen or twelve twenty. 

Wbc was with' you? A Detective Boyle. 

Where were You et ending? A Pirst standing -On the 

northeast corner of Hudson End West 10th street. 

9, Northeast or northwest? A On' the northwest corner of 

Q Did you see these defendants that night? A 

9, When you first saw then where tare yal standing a;nii 

,where Imre they? A .When we first Saw them we :were 

on 'the northeast corner of Hudson :and' 10th street. 



Q And. where we're they  A -Coming west on 10th street 

the north si de of 10th sire et. 

Coming awards. you? A • y 

TgE COURT:' Do not lead the witness, M 

Q. What did you see them do? A They walted,west On 10th 

street, sorth on the east side of Hudson street, about fifty- feet 

south of 10th street on Hudson; they stopped -in front 

restaurant and, looked in, they held_ a conversation, and. they 

walked across Hudson street and continued west on 10th street; 

to about the middle of the block. 

Q, Nowt that was half way between Hudson and. CO4eenwich? 

Q G'o on and tell what you saw them' do, if an3rthing? 

t The complaining witness, John Kane, was coming east on the 

south side of 10th street. Murphy was on the inSide Mack .was 

Q And the third man vthat is his name? A Robinson* 



BY MR. McCORMICK: 

Q, Go ahead A In front of 256 West  10th street 

, was on the outside and Robinson was .in the middle, and. 

was. on the inside; they got hold complaining 

and Robinson went through his pockets. 

MR. SULLIVAN: Objected to. That is a characterize,-

Q, State what each man did if you can? A Mu.rphy .c aught 

hold of the- complaining witness on one side. 

• Q, Holding him where? A By the arm. 

• BY MB. McCORMICK: 

Q, Go ahead? A Mack was oxi the outside, he c aught hold 
mr.e• 

ne on  that side, and Robinson went through him. 

MB. SULLIVAN: I obj•ect and move to strike i 

THE C OtJRT: Strike out "Robins on went through him. 

State what Robinson did. 

(Witness continuing) Pu-t his •hands -in his 

felt him all over like that (indicating). 



THE 'COURT: You; must not state a conclusion Of fact. 

the conclusion of th-e fa.c.tt from 

narrated by you. 

THE WIT/TESS: All right, sir. 

Q, What were you and your partner doing at that time? 

MR. SULIIV.AN: Objected to that don't show what 

THE COURT: I overrule the objection. 

standing right across, right over, 

Q When did you begin to cross over? A lmmediatel 

after Kane hollered out that "I have nothin,g, 

Q, Then what did you officers do? Did you run or 

MR. SULLIVAN: Objected to, that if; not an anirwer. 

THE COURT: Objection sustained.; 

Q, Go on and. tell what happened? A We went over and. I 

followed Mack and. Murphy towards Greenwich street. Officer 

Boyle caught-hold of Robinson. 

Q Where did you get Mack and. Murphy? A 'Right near 

Greenwich street. 

Were they running or walking? A Walking quick. 

Where was the complainant? A The complainant wae go 



Q, Walking along?. A 

Q, After you arrested. Mack and: Murphy, what did. 

brought them back to where the complainant wa.13., 

Q :Where was the complainant?_ A About Hudson an 

Q There did he get him? A Right there at the corner. 

Q, Right at the corner of 'what? A 10th and Hudson streets; 

right about near the corner, just where the thing occurred, at 

He was not drunk? A No, sir. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR, SULLIVAN:' 

Q, Did. I understand you to say that the déendante, when 

they went west—on-10th street went about the middle' of.sth e blook 

and. half way towards Greenwich s tre et? A About ,p1 front of 

256. 

Q That is about the middle oe tie blocks is it? 

I should judge it is about a little nearer Hud,son street. 



Well,. it is practically th,e middle of the block? A Yes, 

practically.. 

Cil and  Boyle 

Ilb're they on the .north side or south .side?A They 

were on the south side of 10th street. 

a There is a barber shop doing business at 

suppose? A I couldn't say. 

Q Didn't you notice whether the barber shop was open or 

' not? A There was light in it s all I- noticed. 

Q, The curtains were not drawn? A No, sir. 

Q, The bu sine SWaS g oing on after twelve ol clock at night, 

Saturday night? A I couldn't say there was-any business there. 

Q, But of course the barber shop was 

It was not closed? A No, sir. 

The saloon was still doing business? 

Q, And that was open? A That Was not open. 

Everything closed inside of the barber shop? A The 

that hour, 

Q Well, as a matter of fact wasn't it • open where you'. 

were --- what was the number of the barber shop, ,do you know? 

A There is a vacant lot there. 

Q, It is in front of that vacant lot? A . Well, there 

vacant lot and. a barber shop ..there. 



NV 

Well you ought to know; 

-in this case, or "1. suppose s don t y u know? 

am sure this 256 is a vacant lot. 

Q Will you swear it is a vacant lot? A Well 

swear there is a -vacant lot next to the barber shop 

Q, theth.er it is on .one side- or the other, you do 

A I will swear this, on the south side of 1.0th street, two 

doors from Hudson, there is .a barber shop and a vacant lot. 

Q, Between Hudson ani Greenwich.? A Between Hudson an 

Greenwich? A Yes,• 

Q Somewhere? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did I understand you to place these men there., the 

three of them Walked toward Greenwich street? A Y 

the south side of 10th street. 

Q, And you were standing on the northeast corner of Hudsdn 

and 10th street? A Not at the time they were waning- between 

Hudson and. Greenwich. 

Q, Well, you have testified in this case before• -

when I first observed them Mr. McCormick asked. me. 

Q I am not asking about your testimony here. And Officer 

'Boyle has testified in this case before? A Yes* 

c), Now, have you ever sworn in any hearing .in this case . 

that you were standing on the northwest corner e 10th and. Hud-

son streets? A Yes 



• Q YoU haye Sworn- t it? A. yes, 

Q Where? A Tefferson -Market Court. 

Q, Would you recognize your testimony, if you saw it" 

I would. 

Q Will you state to this jury-that:you ever stated. 

before in any hearing in this case that you were standing on 

the corner, the northwest corner of Hudson and 10th street? 

Q Will you swear that you ever testified in this 

that you left the northeast corner before this robbery oc-
-\ 

curred and went over to the northwest corner? A I don 

that I swore to that. I 'don't know that I Was asked that.. 

Q, Well, will yoi now tell this  jury, that What you said 

left the northeast corner of Hudson• 

time that they crossed Hudson street, 

that they left in front of the restaurant and drossed_Hildson 

street and, went west on 10t4 street, tOwards GreenmiCh. 

Didn't you just swear in anSwer to Mr. McCormick's 

question that the moment you started after them was When you 

"hoard this old man yell out? A That was When he Tcrossed the 

north side of 10th street , and Dn the east side 



, 

Q,• Hudson street is rather a broad s 

Pretty broad yes, sir. 

And when you were on that corner, the northeast corner 

of Hudson and. 10th street, you didn't see these men lay any 

Now, Kane was coming in •'One direction on 10th' street 

and. they %ere going in the other? A yes. 

Q, They met, is. that right? A Yes, sir. 

Q, And. the last you saw of these defendants as they pro-

ceeded west on 10th street was about the middle of the blcck 

between Hudson and Greenwich, is that right? A Yes sir. 

Q, And about that point they met again, is that right? 

That's right. 

• Q, Now, before they met again had you left t northeaSit 

corner? A 'Yes. 

Q,

 

You  had? A Yes. • 

Q, Now, if I submit this examination, or a copy o.f the 

examination of the your evidence in the Magistrate's Court 

you are Officer james Dalton, are you not? A Yes., *sir. 

Q, Will you examine it and. put your finger on the statement 

there in in which you say that you %ere standing on the north,-

west corner of 10th street 'End Hudson street? 



Ob3eoted. to. Ob ection, sustained. 

THE COURT-: Yeiu• may ask the substance of what you 

stated in your question by putting it in another form. 

recall ygur evidence in this case it is 

you distinctly reneMber stating 

McCORMIan_ I object  to what the statement of 

the evidence in another ease is. 

THE_COUR111: ' What do you want to show? 

MR. SULLIVAN: It is merely in the nature of an im-

peachment proceeding, and it is difficult for me und.er 

the state of the evidence as I_have it to bring it out, 

excepting through the statement as I have it here, 

have him examine it to see Whether it is or, is not lii..s 

and have him.point out where it is. I have laid the 

basis of this examination 

THE COURT: You have a right to refer to the record 

for the purpose of contradicting the officers testimony 

Now, if the record is silent on that subject youlnay ask 

the officer, is this the only occasion? Or did, you on 

any other occasion ever state thus and thus? 

1vB. SULLIVAN: I will, but I am not going to offer 

a lot of incompetent evidence in this case. 

THE COURT': (Continuing) • And -then if he 

that you offer the record. 

B. SUILIVt: Whipe I Would not ordinaril 



objection, I do not thin]; it is my duty or .my viork to 

inject into this „case a incompetent evidence. 

THE COURT: Well, y5u are not doing it in that fash.-

Q, I ask you to look at this paper which purports upon 

its face to be a copy or a transcript of your evidence and I 

would: like to haie you point out in that evidence any statement 

yourself,of where you say you were standing on the northwest 

corner of 10th street and. Hudson. 

Objected to. Objection 

THE C °URI' : The witness may not have been asked that 

MR. SULLIVAN: But he says he did say so. 

THE WITNESS: No.. I said I might not have, been 

asked that question. 

MR. SULLIVAN: He sal d he di d make that st at anent . 

Q Do you remember this uestion 'being put to you 

are a police officer,Central Office? A Yes, six 



Were you present with the last ,witness,,when the 

arrest vas made? A Yes, sir. .Yes, sir. We were stand-. 

ng' on the northeast 'corner of Hudson and west 

BY MR. SULLIVAN: 

I misunderstood you then when 

in the police court tip,at you stated to the Magistrate 

understood_ you 

10th •.street.. 

that a 

the time that: this affair occurred you were s mail* on he 

northwest corner of Hudson and. 10th street? A I didn't 

that in the Magistrate's Court. 

Q, You di d& t Make that at at ement? A No. When we o 

-served the defendants, I say we were -on the northeast coiner 

state 

of Hudson and 10th street, and they were coming west 

north side. of 10th street. 

The question that I put to you was if at any-hearing 

In the case before this hearing now, you .had made the. Statement 

n the 

you. have made rere on the stand already, that you were on t1e 

- northwest corner of 10th and Hudson streets? A That I couldn't 

say. I might not have been asked the question. 

Q Well, you stated it both ways. You. stated it to•me 

once that you did. before the magistrate and now you say'y u 

did not. 

Objected to. Question withdrawn. 

BY THE COURT: 

9, Did you state that you stood at the-northwest corner? 

Did you state it to-day? A .Ye-s, your Honor. on the north-

west corner. 

1111SIti;, 

5r. 



Well my question wa's, di. you ever make, that -state. 

merit before you made it here? A That I 

than what the record there says. 

Q, You are going by the record 

ent recollection? A No, I. have not. 

house? A No. 

Did. you go to the Station house yourself? A I did. 

Q . Did—you see him there? A I did. 

Q What time? A About twelve twenty. 

Q, Did yoU s ee hi* there Sunday morning? A I did. 

Q, Were you in court? A I was. 

Q, Sunday morning? A Yes. 

Q, Do you know as a matter of your knowledge and your-

conneCtion with this case that he was arrested ,for intoxica-

• tion? A Yes. 

Q, And do you know when he Was arraigned there on Sunday 

case was adjourned? A Yes, sir. 

Q, That was adjourned on account of his SOrety? 

sir, it was adjourned to give those (indicating) a chance 

procure counsel. 

Q Do you know who made the affidavit in the charge ligaircet 

rar1? 4 I think it witS Officer Boyle. 



Q; Who  A He was an ofaceron a. 'fixed post. 

What was his name'? A I think it  was Sh.evlin. 

you don't forget names of 'police officers 

3 easily as this, do you  A Yes. It is Shev•lin. 

Q, There is his fixed post? A Right on the corner of 

)th and Hudson streets --- I think there is a fixed post there; 

• I am not sure, I don't know. 

Q You know where the fixed posts are there where 

are detailed? A I do not.. 

Q, .Who is the officer there? A Shevlin. 

Q, You know it was not Hudson and 10th street, don't you.? 

I know it was Greenwich and 10th street.. 

•Q, W,00.1, you just said it vvas Hu.dson and, 10th'streeta? 

Well, that was a mistake. I will correct that.- That iB 

Greenwich. 

Q, Ithere did. you arrest these men? A Right near Greenwic 

Between Greenwich and Washington, • or Hudson and- Green 

'rich? A No, it was on the east side of Greenwich. 

Q Between Greenwich and Washington, : sn t that it 



Q Was this Officer Shevlin on post there at that time? 

I suppose he was-.4---

Q, Didn't he come up there wL th y au 

come up to see what the trouble was. 

• Q, Then you know he was there? 

Q, He came up and assisted you? A Yes, sir. 

He was in uniform? ' A Yes, sir. 

Q, Weren't these two  men arrested in front of the school 

on 10th street between -Greenwich and Washington? 

Q, Is that officer here to-day? A No, sir. 

Q, Don't you consider him an important officer in this 

Q, Where- is he? A He is no witness to the 

Q. There is no way to find, out who he is from you? 

A Well, you can go to the at ati on house and find the re 

on the blotter of what officer it was. 



Will you promise not to see him in the meantime? 

of Robins-

son. He asked to be adjourned• so ,he could- get his counsel and 

notify his people. 

DIRECT EX.A1VII NAT ION. BY MR. McCORMICK: 

(The witness states that he resides at 109 Bank street.) 

Q, You Ware a member of the Police Force of New York? 

Q, Did you see these defendants? A I did. 

Where were they when you first saw them? A On the 

north side of 10th street, between Hudson and Bleecker, w 

Q, They were walking towards y ou then? A They -mere 

Q Go on and. tellj what you saw them. do? A They crossed 

over to the southeast corner of 10th. and Iludson street, and 

walked aønbJ1 on Hudson street about -35 to 40 feet, walked u 



re staurant. 

Q, How many were there? .Three. After leaving- there 

they went catercorner to thee' southwest corner of; ,10th and'Hud-

son streets, and walked west on West 10th street , on the sout 

side towards Greenwich. 

Where was the complaining witness when you first saw 

him?A He was about fifteen to twenty feet east of Greenwich 

Q, What were you doing at that time? A Watching these -

three defendants. 

Q, And, these three def en dants and the complainant were 

on the south side of 10th street? 

Q, Tell us what happened when they came together where 

did they come together? A In front of 256 West 10th street. 

Q, This was in the middle of the block? A About that, yes. 

Q, What happened there? A The defendant was walking east-. 

the complainant was walking east on 10th street, and on the 

south; side, and, these three defendants were walking west on 

West 10th street on the south side. Robinson started to go 

(Witness continuing) Murphy had hold. o 



Strike out "While Robinson was going 

Q What was Robinson doing? A Had, his hands in hi 

Q, What did the complainant shout? A He calls out, 

nothing, let me alone. ft With that Murphy and Mack starts 

to walk away, and Robinson remained there with his hands going 

THE* COURT : Mot ion granted. 

Q, That happened then? A stepped over to the eout 

plainant and asked him if he had, lost any money. 

MR. SULLIVAN: I object to this conversation with 

THE COURT: Objection sustained. Strike it out. 

Q Never mind what you asked him, tell us what happened.? -

A Then I 1Yant down and calght hold of Robinson. 

That was Robinson doing when you laid. your hands ,on-hi 

Q, How far was he then from the co 



through .10th street. 

Q, What did you say to Tobinson when you grabbed him? 

I asked him what did he stick that feller up for. He said, 

"I didn't stick him up I know him." - 

Q, What did you see the other officer do, - Dalton? A Dal-

ton went after Mack and Murphy while I walked back vath Robin-

son to get the complainant, and .on my way back an officer 

jumped off a west bound trolley car there and. held. Robinson 

• while I went and, got the complainant on Hudson street and 

Q Mack and Murphy said. that? A Yes., sir. 

Q, Were any of these three men out of your sight from the 

time you first saw them until you put the4i under arrest? 

Q, Ware-there any other people on 10th street ;besides those 

four people and, you two officers? A Not on that Side of- the • 

NATION BY ffl. SULLIVAN: 
$ I understand that you claim that you 



• 

Q You arreited him about 40 feet we-st of 256 ,,Wes 

10th street? A Yes, - sir. 

How far is 256 West 10th .street west of the corner  

of Hudson? A About 55 feet 

Q If that is the centre 9f the block then. you Mutt :11.64.e 

arrested him .ciown neat Greenwich street?. A I did. 

Q, Did you see Mack and Murphy arrested? A I seen. 

Officer Dalton go after those two and get them. 

• (I Did you see him arrest  them? A Yes, sir. 

Q Where? A On the corner of Greenmi h and 10th street. 

Q, That is Where you arrested Robinson? A 1 had .:h1 

on the lest side about 30 feet from the corner, east from :the 

corner of.Oreenwich, on the south side of 10th street, and he 

had them on the west side of Greenwich :street. - 

Q Then as a matter of fact, Mack and Murphy were ar-

rested- between Greenwich and. Washington? A No, right on that 

corner. 

Q Well, on the west side of Greenwich street and 10th 

street? Yes. 

Q. Well, they were between Greenwich and Washington? 

A Well, it might have been two feet, if you would have to 

call it. 

Q You did not arrest them between Hudson and Green-

wich Where you arrested Robinson? A No, they were not to-

gather. 



. On the other block?., A Ye 13 a 

Q, Did. Dalton bring 'these two men back to you? A Be diL1 

Q, 'And. beforp you went- back° with Robinson, did. he ,come 

• back with you? A He followed me up. 

Q, How ,far behind you was he  A About tweity..five fee 

twenty feet. 

Q You waited until he cmae over with these men? 

to walk back with Robinson and get this complainant. 

Q, You claim, you tell the jury now that Dalton .came 

back and was following you up about twenty-five- feet behind. 

you with these two men? A Right. 

Q. Was there any other officer there? A Officer Camp-

bell got of  a trolley car there. 

lie was in citizen's clothes? A There 

• Qa Where was he standing when you first saw hi 

Greenwich and. 10th street. • 

Q, Was that before or after you arres ed-Robinson? A 

was 'there before and after. 0 • • 

Q, There was he after you 

Dalton, coming up with those t 



Q, Do you know tethe.r he arrested him 

arrested him? A Officer Dalton did., 

You were there? A Right present, yes, 

You saw Dalton arrest them? A Yes .sir. 

Q, And you saw the other officer there too. A  Yesisir. 

Q, Is he attached to the Charles street station? A Ye 

rested Robinson? A He was. 

Q, And at that time Murphy and Mack had crossed Greenwich 

Q, There was nobody running away? A They didn't 

Q, Do you mean to say to this jury now 

Q, Then you want to charg-e these men with running away 

just because I asked you that question, when you. know it i 



What corner .1:1041ifon and Greenwich street 

standing? A. WY,ten I -first saw •these def endants 

Q, Can't you understand it? A Y 

Q, Answer it. A, I was on two different corners at 

different times.' 

Q, Well, when you saw these men going west on 10th street 

toward Greenwich, on the south side, as you claim 

reached the front of 256 West 10th street, where sere you?'A 

Q, Have you in a,ny hearing in this "case ever stated. tO 

on the northeast 'corner-

deon 10th street when this thing occurred'? A 

Q, hell, do you know? A I told. them I was standing at 

the corner of Hudson and. 10th street, I zon't say which -corner, 

Q, Well, now, you say that Mack and Murphy walked dOwn 10th 



- 

MR: SULLIVAN: 

HE COURT: Yes. 

Robinson and the complainant were: the  together after. 

Mack and Murphy had started west on 10th .street7 

Q, And that was after you had. left the northeast corm• 

A Right. 

Q, And that was after the complainant Said 'I have,noth-

ing, let me alone"; is that right? A Right. They wa3,ked--wes 

Q, Did you start to leave the northeast corner of Hudson 
•, 

and 10th street before the complainant ever said. a word? A I 

did. 

Q And. Dalton left with you? A 9Ye, sir. 

Q, And you left that corner just as soon as these peopae 

had turned the corner of 10th street and Hudson? A Yes, sir. 

At that time had you seen Kane? A We did. 

C?, You saw K'a'ne before you left the northeast corner 

Just as we left the northeast corner, walking over. 

Q, You could see down wes-t-1-01h street on the south side 

easily two hundred feet, couldn't you? A Yes. 
- . 

Q, And you c ould see a man' s hands two hundred. feet awe 

A I wasn't that far away. 

  Q, Well, let .us see. How far do you think it is frot 

son to Greenwich street on 10th street1 that 13l2ock? A I 

judge it is about 1'75 feet --- 160 fee --- a short.,block. 

,Q Wen, if it is 160 feet, the centre of it 77ou1d be 

..r 



How wide 

.forty or forty.five feet: 

Q, That is a very wide.  street? A It  is. 

Q, "What is the ordinary width 

City, do you know? 

MR. McCORMICK: I object to that. 

TEE COURT: We /will all take judicial notice that 

Hudson street is a very wide thoroughfare. 

Q, DO you know what the ordinary width. of the streets 

'Q, Did. you get the complainant in this case?' A 

Q, Where did. you find. him? A Right near Christopher 

on Hudson -- between Christopher and, West 10th stree 

Q, Illhat time was that? A About ten seconds after 

Robinson over to Officer Campbell, to hold him. 

he was walking south or lildSOD to 

Q, When you went from Hudson street west on 10th street 

you passed him, and. he passed you? A Passed 

Illy, this man that—You claim you sawc'ornftg from the 



1111101114/3i: 

west? A I spoke to him after they had. left .him, and. aske*. 

didn't got my' 

Q, Well I didn't ask you for the conversation. 

he went away and went down Hudson street? A He went east 

on 10th street and south on Hudson street then4 

Q, Then you went west ,and caught him after that? A I did., 

Q, And you took him to the police station? A I did. 

Q, Did. you make a charge of intoxicati on against: him?. 

Did. you find any money on him? -A • I did. 

qu:estion, - were you asked in the Magistrate's .court this 

"State the facts leading up to the arrest?" Was that. 

question put to you in the Magistrate's Court? A It was, y 

and West 10th street. We observed the three coming, west ma 

West 10th street, north side of West 10th street. 



Hudson and stood, watching in front of the restaurant f 

ten minutes.. After leaving the restaurant they walkedwest: 

through 10th street on the-So4thide. and the complainant,

Kane) be oathe east on the south Side-Of-WeiSt 10th street. They 

were going west. In front of 256 the defendant Murphy took 

hold of one side at him, Mack had hold of the other side, 

.robinson went through his pockets. The old man hollered 

'I have nothing, let me alone 

that your answer that you made up theA?: A Yes, Sir. 

Q Now you say here that they crossed diagonally across-

' the street? A From the restaurant? • 

Q, Yes. • A Which I had _stated in the Magistrate's Court. 

Q Well, they tent south on Hudson'street, 4idnut.theY? 

sir; they did after that.. At first I seen then; they., 

came west on 10th street, On the north. side, and. went døwm 

Hudson Street, south about thirty or forty feet. After leaving

:there they catercornered and went .over to the southwest corner 

of 10th and Hudson street and went west on 10th street. 

Q After they went douth on Hiidson.street.do yOU mean to 

say that then they went to the. west side of Hudson? A: 

place? A They .did. 



""Q. Was this in, your presence?" -Do you remember that. 

question being put t 

Q, Was this in your presence?" 

• Ct• ."YOU .were .sixty feet awaY. ,on the other :side .Of thee 

street in. the park :watching. and Mack walks away." 

A Right. 

Why, at the time the complainant and, these other three .firs 

met we were that distance away, on the northwest corner 

10th and Hudson streets. 

Q, That would take you about .eighty feet then, if you. w 

on the northwest corner, it would take you about eighty feet 

from there this thing occurred? A About seventy or eighty 

Q And. you %ere on the other side of the street? A We 

.And. you were standing in the park, were you.? A Yes 

Q Now, did you notice whether or not the barber shop 

Q, Was it closed? A It appeared to me to 

The door being closed, but lights in the place. 

That barber shop was between you 'and these 

barber shop was here and the defendant here-I and we 'were over 

here (indicating and. pointing) and, the light shown right out 



the barber 

Q Is there a cvacant lot there? A Yes, about ten or 

twelve feet away, Where they store trucks* 

Q, Is that on the east or west side of' the barber 

A That is on the west side of the barber. 

Q Were you on the east side of the barbershop? A 

the barber shop was between you and this vacant 101 

Q And was it in front of this vacant lot that you claim 

that, this thing occurred? A Yes, sir. .' 

-a So that the lot was between you and them? A Yes,sir. 

barber shop? 

Q. It is n ot the barb er shop that enable s you to mel 

identification, it is the electric light, is.- that it? ,  

Q This electric light shines up from where'? A ron 

southeast corner of Greenwich- andlOth- street. 

. Q Southeast corner?  -A -176s, pit -• 

Q Well, you claim here that you Were.iuthe park, 

were on the northwest CO A. . 7ell, 7, were, -yes . 



Q, , Well there is a light on Hudson? A Yes, sir. 

Q Yet that did not reach you on the corner. A No 

because that on the east side of the street. 

Q, That is across the street, is it? A Yes, sir. 

or sixty feet? 

Q, And it Is eighty feet frrn Greenwich to where they 

were, and that light reached them? A No I don't say it reached 

I said that light shines up at that side of the street. 

Q It didnot 

Yes, sir. 

of course, where you stbod on the northwest 

corner, placing yourself there at the time these men were 

gether, you could' see Robinson's hands go into this man's pock,-

Q, Was the man standing in the middle of the sid,ewalk 

up against the building? A No, he was about three feet away 

"from the building line, from the fence. 

Q, Was he facing 10th street or,facing the lot? A 

Q, And y ou zere facing Greenwich street? A W.e 

Q You were looking towards Greenwich street? A I was 

looking 'towards this occurrence. 

Well,y were looking do vaa ovrards Greenwich street 



that right? A I was looking right' opposite where they were. 

Q, One man was on one side and another man on, another, an 

-another man in the centre,- is that right? A Right. 

.And these three met had their backs to you? A They 

surrounding him, right around Ili 

Q, Well, as I understand you now, this man, where he was 

standing was thoroughly lighted the place was thoroughly 

lighted a-nd these men  were standing in the light? II In the 

light shining from the barber shop. 

indictment away from the jury, on the ground that the 



EUGENE M A C K, one of the defgridants herein,. called in 

his own behalf, being first duly sworn, testifies as 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SULLIVAN: 

(The witness states that he resides at 88 Christopher street 

(The Court now declares a recess for lunch, firs 

duly admonishing the jury as usual.) 

U G- ENE .MAC K, resumes the stand, and. testifies as 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY 01. SULLIVAN: 

What is your naMe2 A Eugene sack. 

Q, Where do you live? A 88 Christopher 

How long have you lived in this City? 

Q How old are you? A 'Twenty-seven. 

What do you do for a living? A Drive 

Nom., you have heard the witnesses in this case testif 

Do you remember the time of your arrest? A Ye s sir. 

Will you St ate to the jury the circumst ances immediately' 



preceding and at the time of your arrest that night? A 

left the aorner of Bleecker and 10th street at twelve 

the place was jut closing up, and I happened. to me,et MUrphy 

and Robinson, because theyewere in there, and v.e got: outside, 

and .I asked. them to go down and. have .something to eat 

walked down through 10th -street, to Hudson, and we were to go 

_ 
into the restaurant there. We looked in and so we decided to 

go down further to West street, at 4.00 West street; 

So we were going down through 10th. street and. Robinson 

happened to see a friend of his come up, so he started talk-

ing, and. we kept on walking, and I walked down at far as the 

school on the next block between Greenwich and. Washington 

streets, right in the centre of the block, and the officer 

come running down and. Murphy and me stopped and turned around. 

and he said, we were under arrest. 

Q, Had. you at that time- taken hold of anybody? A No, sir, 

anyb o dy hold this old man? A No, sir, 

anybody' put their hands in his pockets? 

Q Did you see this defendant (indicating RobinsOn 

his hands in his pockets? A No, sir. 

Q, Did you see the defendant Murphy put his hands 

Q, He walked down the street with 



Q IA that the laOt officer on the •stand.? 

Q You heard Officer Dalton swear that he 

A yes, sir. 

Is that true A Yes, 

Q Now, When you wefe arrested who was wi 

MurPhY. 

The defendant here? A Yes, sir. 

Greenwich and Washington streets, On 10th street, in front 

the public school. _ 

Were you about the middle of the block? A Bight 

the middle. 

of the main gate. 

Q When Officer Boyle arrested you What happened? A He 

walked us back to Graenwich street and then through Greenvidh 

street, on the east side of Greenwich street to dharles street. 

Didn't you go up to Hudson.street with him? A io, sir. 

• Q Let us see, was there an officer in uniform at the 

intersection of Greenwich and 10th street? A There, was one 

there afterwards, only walked alongside of us be didn't 

place his hand on us., 

(1 When you crossed Greenwich street, going west on 10th 

street toward West street did. you see that officer vaaHthS-post 

there? A T.64, I didn't tale notice* 



Q, But when this other officer came -running up t 

10th street between Greenwich and. Washington 

officer then? A Yes, he was walking do 

can't say he did. 

• Q, Did you come back to Charles street and. then go up 

Greenwich street to Charles? A We were back to Greenwich, 

7and we walked on the east side of Greenwich street and walk 

Q, Was the defendant Robinson there? A He was 

.Q, Did. he go up Greenwich street? A Yes, sir. 

Did you go back to Hudson street after your 

Q, 11then you came back to Greenwich and 10th street 

Robinson under arrest at that time? A yes, sir. 

Q Who had him in custody?,. A Officer Dalton. 

, Q, Well, you heard Officer Dalton swear here that 

arrested you and Murphy? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Is. that true? A No, sir. 



did you. we this .-complainant there that night 

at all? A No sir, I didn't see him until the next morning 

n Xefferson Market. 

Is **there- anything now that 

have not asked you _about that yo 

Q, You left the saloon at Bleecker street -and •10th- street? 

To Hudson: street? A Yes, • sir.. 

You went . to a restaurant and didrilt 

Q, Then you started for another place on West street? A 

Q, Is there a restaurant .around on West street that Is 

well known among the drivers? A Yes, sir, 400 West street. 

Q, Is that a place where drivers and  particulars! 

Q, Were you bound for that place? A• Yes, sir. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. McCOliMICK: 

Q, By whom were you employed on the 'day that you were 

arrested? A I was not working that day. 

Q When was the last day that you,. • did worc before-the day 

that you were arreited? A Thursday, 

'or whom did you work that 'day? A A man b 



of Shannon, n the Norwi-ch Line, I- was working for him three 

days that week extra. 

Q, How do you spell his name? A William Shannon , Pier 

1Forth River. 

for him three dayz?1 A Y 

Before that for whom did. you work? A Crawford Transfer. -

How long did. you work -for that concern? A About five 

Q, How much were you paid .a week? A Pourteen dollarer. 

Q When was it that you left there? A I left there 

after when the cold weather started in when things begin 

get slack, and then I was working extra right along for dif-

Q, Since March had you had, any regular job? A ITO 

— there was no steady employment around. 

Q, How many different men have you worked for since- March? 

I was generally working for Crawford three or four days 

You worked for different people, did y 

During that -time? A Yes, 'sir. 

How long have you known Robinson? A.. It 



Q, How long have you known Murphy 

three or four lalonths. 

Q, Well now, the night that .,,you. *ere 

Q, Then you walked_ over to the s cuthwest corner of Hudson: 

wich you, viere arrested? A N o,.sir, I vas arrested. between 

'Greenwich and Washington, right in the centre of the block. 

• Q, 'And as you walked down 10th street_ towards the North 

River, did you pass the complaining viitness? A I dbp.l't kno* 

whether he was the complaining witness, but seen Robinson. 

• stop and talk to a man there, and we kept on walking right 

said •niers 



Hudson street? A Xust talking over whether We would go 

that re staurala 

on Hudson street? A 11.01 we just thought we would see 

I sn' t it true th at when you three men were searched 

riot a cent was found on one of you? •A Why; I showed my money 

al3rseff to Officer Boyle in Greenwich street, and he says to me 

"If you don't shut up, I will punch you in the jaw." 

Q, Didn't they search you at the station ,house? A Nc 

they did. not they didn't search me. 

Do. you. mean to say that you three prisoners were not 

partment to search a prisoner? 

Q Don't they always search a 

Q, Didn't they search you? A They did. not. If they 

they would have .fund forty cents in my pocket. 

Q, Did they search Robinson? A •I don't know. 

Q . You were there? A I know I 'vas' there. 



Did. you see them search Murphy. 

see anything. I- know they, didn't search me. 

Q, You say you had fortycents? A Yes. -

Q, Iraw_Anacii_nwn,By did. Robinson -have? A I don't know. 

Q How much did. Murphy -have? A He had. s charge; 

don't know what it vas. 

Q, What were you going to do at this restaurant? A You 

can get a regular dinner down there for fifteen cents. 

Q, In the Hudson street restaurant? A No, in West _street. 

Q, You said you stopped. in front of the Hudson street 

restaurant to see if there was anything to eat? A Yes. 

inside of that 'restaurant at the 

in eating, only the proprietor. 

know what business Robinson is 

Q, How long. has he been in that, business? A I couldn't 

tell you. I only know him for about a year. 

Q, bid you never know him under the name of James 'Wilson? 

Objected. to. Objection sustained! 

is clearly in violation of the law. 

I seen Murphy he was helping on a truck. I 



CA Do you see these men every night? A• No, 

Q When was the last night before the night that - you were* 

• arrested that you were with them?„ A Well, -I didn1 t see 

Murphy for about a month, and Robjinson I didn't see for 

was this saloon you were in with these two linen 

were arrested? ' A At Ble ecker and 10th streets. 

Were you with them all the time you were in there? 

I wasn't with them at all inside. We came outside. 

Q You met them after you got outside of the saloon!? Did 

side of the saloon as they closed up. 

Q That conversation took place between you three men 

there? A Well, the first thing, one said they were hungry. 

I said, "I have got a few cents we will go down and have sem-



ATRICK P 0 Y L IE, called as a witness in behalf of 

the  defendant Mack, being first duly sworn testifie 

as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY R. SULLIVAN: 

(The Witness .state.s that he rescdes at 62 HoiVio -Street. 

Q, How long have you lived in this City? A About twenty 

three years. 

For how long? A Around ten years. 

,tcl And before that where? A Atlantic Transport. 

How long were.you'there? A Sevenor eight year*, 

National, the head of that. 

Is the defendant Mack your nephew? A My nephew. 

Have you been living in this City continuously for the 

last twenty or twenty-five years? A -Yes, sir. 

Have you seen him all that time? A All that time. 

Q Have you known other people in this community who. know 

him? A Yes, sir. 

144404p ] 

1r, 



Q, And. -Since that time where has he been living? A 

has been witlime for about eighteen mouths after that. 

And since? 

Q Is his reputation good or 

DIRECT EK.ANIINATION BY MR. SULLIV.ATT: 

(The Witness states that he resides at 84 Horatio street. 

Q, How old are you? A Thirty §even. 

Q, What is your vocation? A Truck driver. 

Q, How long have you been pursuing that? A In. ali 

Q For whom were you working then'? IL Well. I v.s.s • 



fof H. L. Converse, doing some loading. 

job Isat, driving for a man named DonOvan._ 

Q, During the last eight years have you been:emploYea? 

A Yes, for Simon Donovan H. L. Converse, and4he-padson,River 

Objected to. Objection overruled. 

Q Where do you live? A 84 Horatio street. 

WereyoL living there at the •time of your arrest? 

Q Is that up near the neighborhood Where you were 

rested? 'A Four blocks away. 

Q Will you.state to this jury 

surrounded your arrest, just before 

on the corner of 10th stret and Bleecker --  a place they call -

when they closed up We all- walked out,. 

side on the corner and stood there talking, and one of the 

fellers --- I .dorOt know Which one --- suggested.we havesomo-

thitg to eat and Ae want over to- 10th street, to EV4sonl:end 

we were going in a place there and. changed our minds--- 

wanted, to go where I was always eating When I as working,,. 

over at 400 West street --- Beefsteak Xohn,s,:an eating restau-

rant. We went over here to go to this restau ant over in 10th 



street and ,crossed over .from the restaurant we were stand.

ng in front of, and I g0 down 4 orner 

saloon -whe-re-,-the meeting room Of the truck drivers used, to 

keep, and next door-is a barber' s, and right neMt door:.to tir 

barber's Mr. Dalton run over and said, "Mlotat are you going 

do? Stick that man up?" I said,  "Ng, I would 'rather give 

him than take from :him. I know:him, I know him well." 

q What occurred? .A Thifl old gentlemar4.1 know ithere 

he worked arid everything. Well, he hit me a' ale,p in th.-

and he said, "Oh, that will do", and he turned - to the 7oLther 

two, and, he says, "Come on down and get them other feliers".• 

on his shoulder, and the other. one I had. --.I took it in 
•wtn,A.nromitAMA. 

hand and shook hands with him which we done in the saloon 

a saloon in Weehawkin 

know whether you would call it a block or .not it's a 

I will say it is thirty feet 

that block. It runs from 'Nest street to Weehawkin. 

Q, Well, there is a saloon on the corner of Weehawkin 

This man is a cleaner there? A 



ray 3.ong.sh.oremen and . drivers. 

Q .,They make a special dinner for them? k Yes', sir. 

And it is open day and, night? A Yes, 

And when you are there you frequently come around 

this Weehawkin sk-8:4regt saloon? A .Yes, 

Q, And you kno w'this Old man, do you? A Yes 

Q, 'How longhave you known the complainant? 

four months. . 

Q, Did. you put your hands into his pockets? A 

Q, Did any of the defendants do so? A No, sirs 

didn't stand there. It was me that as standing them fooling 

with him. I had him by the hand, asked him how ,he was getting; 

along, and. that's all there was to it., and this man didn't 

give me any mcii-e- time, but ran over. 

Q,, Speak louder? A I took this fellow by 'the _hand 

know, fooling, and put my hand on his shoulder, and said, 

"Hello, John, how is thinge'" He said, "Oh, let H. He Said, 

"Stop that, now, get out of there.", and he was really drunk 

aria 'that i.s what made me fool with him, more than anything 

because we used, to do it down in the gin mill that he viorked. in. 

BY SULLIVAN: 
Q, Did lrou put your n any of his pockets? A 
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Q, Did. you see •anybosy put their hands up to his throat? 

Q Did you leave him before you were arrested, do you 

know? A No, he was just starting, just going to start 

my two friends, when Officer Dalton ran over and asked me what 

was I going to do, was I going to stick the man up. And the 

old, fellow was going right about his business then, walked 

right away, when they went around and. got him.• 

Q, Was Officer Boyle speaking to the old. man there when 

at that time? A "I don't remember. 

.Dalton is the gentleman that arrested me. 

That is the first police officer that yes a witness 

in this ease? A He is the gentleman. 

Well, he swore that he arrested Murphy and Mack 

you hear him say that? A Yes, I heard him. 

And he swore that Boyle arrested yai. Now, do you know 



Struck me in .the Mouth and asked me was I going to stick 

that man up. 

Q Then, you were there at the place where .you had spoken 

to the old, man? A I was right in front of the ;barber shop. 

Q, After he arrested ;You what did he do with you then? 

A . He held. me there and. told. the other fellow to go down M.get. 

Did you see the old. man that night again, the com-

plainant? A I* didn't see him that 

Q, Did you see the officer go around the corner after 

MR. McCORMICK: t object to all these leading Vestiono.' 

THE COURT: He has answered. them. 

Q, When you were arraigned before the. Sergeant in the 

police station that night, did you see the complainant in this 

Q, When was it you first saw him after he left you there 

on the street? A Sitting on a bench in the back of Jefferson 

Market where the prisoners wait to be brought out befoX7e .the 

00 On November 25th, 1895, were you convict 

r .two years and four 



'Months? 

Q, Was that under the lime of Tames Wilson 

Q, On June 9th, 1899, were you convicted of grand, larceny? 

A I don't know the dates, but I was. 

Q, And were you sent to Sing Sing for a term. of two year3 

and f our months? A Ye s, s 

Q, Did. yoive the name of john Sullivan on August the 

2nd., 1908, in court? A Yes, but that vas an innocent .affair  - 

Q, What is your right name?. A Willi -m Robinson. 

Q, Have you been convicted any other times? A No, 

Q, Are you sure' of that? A I am sure. I have been trying 

to live this all down, District Attorney. working 

pretty hard for eight years now, and I have got responsible men 

who can go security fora-tge and who will vouch for my good be 

Q, When you three men were taken to the station h.ouse 

right after you mere arrested, were you searched or not? A Well 

all they done was feel the clothes on the outside, ,just felt 

down like that, down the clothes. 

Q, How much did you have in your pocket at  the time you 

were arrested, if anything? A I had one twenty-five cent piece 

in my back pocket here. I spent it in Jefferson, Market. 



every night? 

the .y:from work I. Used to stop there quite regular. 

And you used to meet these two men ,there? A Well, T 

seen them there, yes, sir. 

Q, Didn't you leave., th.at saloon ,to go down and look that - 

restaurant over, to see if you could hold it up? A . /To, s 

MR. SULLIV.AITI I object to that as unfair. 

You went down there to get something to eat? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Did these other men say anything about how much money 

they had? A I really didn't know was -only taUing 

who invited the crowd? 

We really depended upon thi,s Mack, I think it was him that' 

suggested it --- we 'really depended on him to pay for it. 

s only a cheap re staurant. -- I could have bought it.' . " 

When you met the complainant on 10th street, or, short-

ly after you met him, didn't he cry out to the effect that he 

had no money, and to let him alone-? A There was nothing about 

money but he did say "Let me alone", and. he was staggering* 

Q, What were you doing to him when, he said. that? A T had.. 

his his hand, squeezing his hand.; I had my other hand on .the 

shoulder, asking him how he was. 



DIRECT 'EXAMINATIO14 BY-1.11R. SULLIV.AN: 

(The witness states that  she resides af 84 Horatib Street 

Q, Are you the wife of the defendant Robinson? A Yes sir. 

Q, How long have you been married? A Seventeen year. 

Q How many children have you? A Five. 

Is one of them. in court with you now? A Yes, sir. 

During the last eight or nine years, since his Ias 

conviction, he has been living at home with you? 

Q, And has been working? A Yes, 

q Were yoU married to him before he was first convicted? 

Q, Do you remember the month? A 'Tune l7th. 

• Q, What was the date of the defendant's conviction?' 

Well, that I really couldn't tell you. 

Q. Are you sure you married him in Tune ? A Yes, st 
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Q Well, during the last 

trouble, have you and he 

you know during that' time -other people 

you known other people during that tito 

Have you lived in the same neighborhood.? 

How long have you been living  down where you are residi-

I will be living there going on a years, about 

nine months; before that I lived in 14 Horatio Street. 

Q, That is on the _West side .too? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Don't you know people who know him, who hava know32 

him for the last eight or nine years, in the neighborhood? 

worked with and. saw him around? A Yes.. 

w what his general reputation has been for 

nine years among those who knew, him for hones 

CROSS EXAMIDATION BY MR. McCORMICK: 

You spoke a few minutes ago of the last tim-e he was 

in trouble; by that do you mean August 2nd.„ 1908? A I don't 



mean. 

MR. $ULLIVAIT: Objected to, unless it 

KR. -McCORMICK: She spoke of his last trouble-.. 

want to know what time slw means his last trouble was. 

.THE COURT: I will allow you to prove a cOnviction, 

if any, during that period.. 

MR. SULLIVAIT: Defendants rest. 

testifies as follows: 

DIRECT.EXAMINAT I ON BY MR McCORMICK: 

.Objected to as immaterial. Objection overruled.. 

iree defendants were searohed in front of the desk 

at the police station, yes, sir. 

Q Did you search any of them? A I searched two 

Q find did you feel in every pocket 
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E D W 'A R D $. •BO Y L. El recalled by the People., in 

buttal, testifies as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. McCORMICK: 

Q, After these •defendants were arrested and'you took 

to the -station house were they searched? A They were.  

Who' searched them? A' Officer Dalton searched Murp 

and Mack, and I searched Robinson. 

Q, You say you searched Robinson? A I did.. 

Q, Tell us what you mean by searching him? A I.put 

hands in every one of his pockets and found nothing on hi 

No money of any kind.' 

Q, Did. you find. anything? A No; sir. 

Q, The pockets all empty? A yes, sir a handkerchi 

or something like that. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. SULLIVAN: 

trousers. 

Q, Where were the pockets? A Two pockets on the side 

here, two back pockets and a mall pocket 

Q, He had pockets in the trousers did e A He did. 



And they Isere .p 

Yes. .0? -Yes. 

- The juty now retires to deliberate upon a verdict, 

, and upon its return renders a verdict of guilty of 

attempted grand larceny in the first degree. 
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